UNITED
NATIONS C RC

Convention on the S ERAL
Rights of the Child CRG/ & SR 378
29 May 1997

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 378t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Friday, 23 May 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Ghana (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97-16740 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Chana (continued) (CRC/ C/3/Add.39; CRC/C/Q GHA/ 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the Ghanai an del egation resuned
its place at the Conmittee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the Gnhanai an del egation to reply to the
guestions asked by members of the Conmittee at the previous neeting.

3. Ms. KATSRIKU (Ghana), referring to the questions on the related issues
of child | abour and street children, said that child | abour existed in the

i nformal sector of the Ghanai an economy and that street children constituted a
segment of child |labour. The Labour Decree 1967 had all owed chil dren under
the age of 15 to performlight donestic and agricultural work. The Governnent
bel i eved that such work was a process of socialization and that through
practice and | earning children became responsible citizens in later life. The
sanme Decree allowed children aged between 15 and 18 to work for renuneration
in conformty with the ILO Convention on the m nimum age for work which Ghana
had ratified. It was known, however, that some children bel ow the m ni num age
were working, either because they had to in order to survive or in order to
suppl enent the famly incone. Sone were engaged as apprentices or as donestic
servants; others were self-enployed. The factors that caused the phenonenon
of child | abour were poverty, broken hones, large famly size and mgration
into the towns. Unfortunately there were no adequate statistics on the
nunbers of working children and street children

4, The Governnent acknow edged and was concerned about the problem

Toget her with non-governnental organizations it was seeking to address it

t hrough progranmes ai med at reducing poverty by nmeans of conprehensive
strategi es, progranmes to educate the general public and parents, on their
responsibilities towards children, famly planning programres to encourage
smaller fam |y sizes and intensive general public education on the need to
keep down famly size. There were also progranmes ainmed at addressing the
needs of children who were already on the streets, and there a distinction had
to be nade between children who worked and |ived on the streets and those who
wor ked on the streets but went home to their famlies at night. Because of
the school shift systemin Ghana, children sonetines went to work before going
to school, and it was not always the case that such work prevented schoo
attendance. The Governnent and non-governmental organizations (NG3s) were
doing a great deal to solve the problemof street children, with programmes to
address their health, education and training needs and progranmes that
counselled themto go back to their famly. A few NGOs had established
day-care centres for street children. The Covernnent was now devel oping a
policy to coordinate all NGO and Government activities for the alleviation of
their plight.

5. Enf orcenent of the | abour laws was still weak and haphazard, but the
mechani smfor nmonitoring work in the vast informal sector of the econony was
to be expanded, and it was hoped that that would result in nmore effective
enf orcenent .



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 3

6. Al t hough they were inadequate, sonme all owances were paid to famlies
recogni zed as destitute. For exanple, where resources pernmitted the schoo
fees of their children were paid. Wnen in destitute fanmilies were al so
encouraged to engage in incone-generating activities.

7. Ms. SAGOE- MOSES (Ghana) said that there was a health conponent in the
services provided for street children. The Mnistry of Health offered

i mmuni zati on and health education, especially relating to sexually transmtted
di seases. 1n 1997 it had | aunched an adol escent reproductive health programe
to pronote and protect the physical and psychosocial well-being of

adol escents, with enphasis on their reproductive health. The objectives were
to determ ne the magnitude of adol escent health problens, to determ ne the

| evel of know edge, attitudes, beliefs and practices of Ghanai ans regarding
adol escent reproductive health, to nmake information on the rel evant programres
avai |l abl e at regional and district levels and to integrate such nmeasures into
the existing primary health care programre by the end of 1997.

8. The target groups for the adol escent reproductive health programe were
the primary recipients and the secondary audi ences who influenced their
attitudes and behaviour. The primary recipients included children both in and
out of school and special groups such as street children, teenage nothers,

adol escent couples and mentally di sabl ed and physically chal |l enged

adol escents. The secondary audi ences were ol der spouses and partners of

adol escents, parents and guardi ans, teachers and school authorities, and
soci al workers.

9. Ms. APPI AH (Ghana) said that under the proposed Children's Act, which
closely followed the main ILO convention on child | abour, the present
distinction between light work in agriculture or the hone, which was

perm tted, and other work that was not woul d di sappear; the new | egislation
woul d proscribe child | abour which was exploitative, depriving the child of
heal t h, education and devel opment. It was al so proposed that the m ni mrum age
for engaging in light child | abour be 13 or 14; for general |abour 15; and
hazardous | abour 18. The age of 15 was also the age that marked the end of
juni or secondary schooling. At present child | abour |egislation was enforced
mainly in the fornmal sector of the econony, but it was proposed to enforce it
in the informal sector through the decentralized bodies such as the socia
services sub-committees of District Assenblies and the decentralized
Department of Social Welfare.

10. Referring to the disparity in mninum ages under the existing

| egi slation, she said that in the Children's Act the ages woul d be made

uni form and consistent with the Constitution and the Convention; the m ni mum
age of marriage would be 18 for both sexes, but those aged between 16 and 18
could marry if they were doing so voluntarily and with their parents' consent.
Under the present Code of Crimnal Procedure the age of crimna

responsibility was 7 years. However, in accordance with the Beijing Rul es and
ot her international conventions it was proposed to increase that age to 14.

Li kewi se the age of sexual responsibility would be raised from14 to 16.

11. At present juvenile offenders up to the age of 18 were detained in
i ndustrial schools, while young offenders between the ages of 18 and 21 were
detained in Borstals. Under the Child Law Reform project the names of those



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 4

institutions were to be changed to junior and senior correctional centres
respectively. Ghana had al ways had juvenile courts and remand hones for
juveniles, and when a juvenile was first arrested and taken to a police
station the | aw provided that he be held separately fromadults. Frequently,
however, the facilities for that were sinply not available. Juvenile courts
were always held in private and prosecuting officers were not allowed to wear
uniform Those provisions would be strengthened under the Child Law Reform
The present provisions relating to the protection of juveniles and their right
to privacy were not adequate, and it was intended to correct that situation
Final ly, she enphasized that under the Code of Crim nal Procedure no person
under the age of 18 could be sentenced to death.

12. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Gnana), replying to a question regarding the
concept of the best interests of the child, said that recent years had seen
changes in attitudes internationally and the best interest of the child were
now much nore regularly taken into account in Ghana. The Education Act 1961
had decreed that basic education was both free and conmpul sory, but that had
not been conpl etely enforceabl e because of the country's financial situation
and because many children had to travel a long distance to reach a school
Under the new policy of achieving free conmpul sory basic education by 2005, the
M ni stry of Education was nmaking sure that no child had to wal k further than
two kilonetres to get to school. Since the beginning of 1997 prenatal care
had become the responsibility of the Governnent.

13. Replying to the point raised concerning affirmative action for education
in the rural areas of Ghana, she said that since the 1960s free education had
been provided for all children in the northern areas. District assenblies had
a policy of granting schol arships to needy children. The Non-Formal Education
Di vision of the Mnistry of Education had nade considerable efforts to inprove
child literacy levels in conjunction with Catholic Action for Street Children
whi ch had better vocational and technical facilities. Priners had been
produced, and children were encouraged to | eave the streets, acquire

non-f ormal educational skills and becone integrated into vocational schools or
into the normal school system

14. Ms. MBO asked whether if a child of, say, 14 married she was
considered to be mature and therefore not subject to legislation relating to
chi | dren.

15. M. FULCI, referring to his earlier question relating to child | abour
statistics, said that he would still wel come conment on an |LO study

carried out in three rural districts of Ghana in 1992-1993, which had shown
that 11 per cent of school age children were enpl oyed for wages and

anot her 15 per cent were enployed without remuneration. He had been surprised
by the statement in paragraph 33 of the report (CRC/ C/ 3/ Add.39) that efforts
were being made to organi ze educational programres for children who “nust”
wor k during school hours. He requested further information on the structure
and goal s of those programmes and sone particulars of the activities of the
NGO, Catholic Action for Street Children

16. Ms. KARP asked whet her there was budgetary provision for action in
favour of children suffering fromAI DS and what attitude was taken to children
who were found to be H V-positive - did they still attend school and what



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 5

measures were taken - and by whom - to enable themto continue to live fully
in society. Was the apparent anbival ence regardi ng enforcenment of child

| abour | aw due to the inadequate nunmber of inspectors or to the absence of a
positive policy decision to enforce the legislation. Wile such a decision
was necessary, it was not enough; there had to be trained inspectors who
agreed with the policy they were enforcing. Wuld the proposed new

| egi sl ati on prohibit corporal punishnment in schools and in the honme? She
poi nted out that the Convention spoke of physical protection in terns of any
vi ol ence applied to the child. She noted that Chana had not ratified the
Convention agai nst Torture and also that nental torture was not prohibited
under the Ghanai an Constitution; was new | egi slation planned which woul d
prohibit that formof torture?

17. M. KOLOSOV recalled that he had asked about discrimnatory practices.
In what fields did they occur nost often, on what grounds, and had any

rel evant studi es been undertaken? The report did not cover all the practices
referred to in the Convention. A statistical study of child | abour and street
children in Ghana shoul d be undertaken because in the absence of data it would
be difficult to determ ne whether Ghana's progranmes had been successful when
the country's second periodic report was considered by the Conmmttee.

18. M. RABAH inquired how Ghana dealt w th di screpancies between
constitutional |aw and customary or tribal lawin the treatnent of children

19. Ms. SARDENBERG sai d that the phenonenon of street children was closely
related to that of poverty and its existence violated many of the rights
protected by the Convention. Statistical research on the phenonmenon was
admttedly difficult and Ghana coul d perhaps benefit fromthe views and
expertise of international bodies in that regard. The Governnment should al so
seek to develop stronger relations with NGOs, in particular with regard to
street children. It would be useful to know the attitude of Ghanaian police
toward street children. Were training progranmes conducted to inform police
of the principles of the Convention?

20. Par agraph 40 of the report indicated that small children in Ghana
received fewer protein foods than did adults. What was the reason for that
disparity? The report mentioned in paragraph 79 the special services

avail able to disabled children. She would wel conme information on the

di scrimnation against such children that existed in Ghanai an society.

21. Ms. OUEDRAOGO i nquired whether a system existed for the inspection of
conditions in day-care centres. \Wen the authorities discovered the existence
of a clandestine day-care centre, what was their response? She was heartened
to learn that the traditional Ghanaian disinclination to listen to children
was changi ng; nore adults should, however, be involved in the effort to
comuni cate to others the basic principle that children’ s views nust be heard.
Greater enphasis should be placed on adult training programres.

22. She wel coned the consi derable attention that was accorded to the matter
of the best interests of the child in the Ghanaian report. Children sonetines
went to live in the street not fromnecessity but frompreference. It would
be useful to know how the authorities approached such cases, which represented
a conflict between a child s wi shes and his best interests.



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 6

23. Ms. MOKHUANE i nqui red how educati onal schol arshi ps were used in Ghana,
and asked for information concerning gender discrimnation in access to
education; in particular, whether any neasures had been established to prevent
di scrim nation against young girls. GChana should describe any studies it

m ght have conducted to assess the roles of boys and girls, and in particular
the situation of girls in the hone.

24. Had any programmes been set up to instruct teachers in the principles
enbodi ed in the Convention?

25. The CHAI RPERSON sai d that several questions she had asked at the

previ ous neeting had not been answered: firstly, concerning the civil status
of a married mnor, secondly, concerning the relationship between traditiona
| aw and statutory law, and thirdly, whether narriages entered into w thout
parental consent were annull ed.

26. Gnhana shoul d descri be what neasures, if any, it was taking to prevent
di scrimnation against children born out of wedlock. It had been stated that
responsibility for ensuring birth registration lay with the districts. 1In

that connection she pointed out that the Conmttee had often recommended t hat
countries with large | and masses should institute nobile registration
programmes. The act of registration legally created a person; what were the
practical inplications in Ghana of failure to register a birth? How, for
instance, did the courts establish the age of an unregistered child.

27. Ms. KATSRI KU (Ghana) said that, since child |abour took place only in
the informal sector, parents were not punished for obliging their children to
wor k; the issue of manipulation sinply did not arise. It was true that Ghana
suffered froma shortage of |abour inspectors. When the 1967 Labour Decree
was passed, child | abour had not been a significant problem and the

| egi sl ati on consequently had nade no provision for such inspections. GChana
was endeavouring to train nore inspectors and to draft programes for

i nspection of the informal sector, and in particular of small enterprises.

28. Efforts were nade to trace the famlies of street children. |If the
famly environnent was satisfactory, a child could, through counselling, be
persuaded to go hone; otherwi se he invariably returned to the street.

29. Research on the work perfornmed by boys and girls in the home had shown
that attitudinal discrimnation did indeed exist. drls worked an average
of 156 minutes a day, whereas boys worked only 100 m nutes.

30. CGhana had limted resources for statistical research, and had therefore
been unabl e to conpile conprehensive data on street children or child |abour

I sol ated studies of street children had been conducted in large cities, where
it appeared that the phenonenon was worsening. The Governnment was in the
process of draw ng up research programmes concerning child | abour, but their
execution woul d be subject to support from donors.

31. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Ghana) said that the University of Ghana's Faculty
of Sociology had a department of social policy analysis, funded by UNICEF. On
an ad hoc basis, that departnent had begun coll ecting data concerning street
children, gender inequality, child |l abour, and children in remand.




CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 7

32. Al t hough nore than one school shift was available to urban working
children, rural children were educationally di sadvantaged when they had to
wor k during the day. Ghanaian child literacy progranmes therefore
concentrated on rural areas. The Canadi an Governnent had assisted the Ghana
Nati onal Commi ssion on Children (GNCC) in the devel opnent of pil ot
child-literacy programmes, and its staff menbers had in fact provided cl asses
to street children on a volunteer basis. Wen that programe |ater received
funding, GNCC turned it over to the Mnistry of Education's Non-Form
Educati on Di vi si on

33. The Ghanai an statistical service would be conducting a national census
in either 1998 or 1999, and the GNCC had offered its views in that connection
The statistical service had indicated that data on street children could not
appear on the census. In conjunction with USAID and the National Popul ation
Council, the GNCC was, however, considering the possibility of conducting a
survey concerni ng adol escent reproductive health and street children, which in
their view could yield the needed dat a.

34. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that, in dealing with street children
soci al welfare workers did in fact endeavour to reconcile a child's rights
with his best interests. The Governnment did not shut down unlicensed day-care
centres; rather the Mnistry of Education and the Departnment of Social Welfare
encouraged its staff to attend a three-week course at the national nursery
training school. Furthernore, licensed centres often sent their staff to
attend such cl andestine day-care centres and organi zed sem nars to inprove
their services and facilities.

35. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Ghana) said that police, obliged to enforce
anti-loitering |aws, were always in conflict with street children. The GNCC
conducted police training workshops to sensitize nenbers of the police force
to the matter of children’s interests and rights.

36. The District Assenblies and the Forum for African Whnen Educationalists
awar ded schol arships to children who wi shed to study in Senior Secondary
Schools. F CUBE, the Free Conmpul sory Universal Basic Education programe,

whi ch had been | aunched only in 1996, would not be in full operation

until 2005.

37. It fell to the District Assenblies to oversee birth registration, under
t he auspices of the Mnistry of Health. *“Traditional birth attendants”,

Assenbly nmenbers, and school teachers were anong those who contributed to the
effort. 1In Ghana, the concept of illegitimacy sinply did not exist; Ghanaian
child policy made no distinction between children born in and out of wedl ock

38. Ms. SAGOE- MOSES (Ghana) said that all child welfare clinics had on-site
registration offices, and had initiated the practice of recording birth

regi stration nunbers on inmuni zati on cards so as to alert staff to the
presence of unregistered children. In addition, the many Ghanai an
“traditional birth attendants” were trained to keep a record of the children
born under their care.

39. Both |icensed and unlicensed day-care centres benefited from Gover nnent
outreach services, including school health care progranmes.



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 8

40. In 1997 Ghana had | aunched an Al DS/ STD progranme whose purpose was to
coordi nate the national response to the AIDS epidenic. Under that programme,
technical units of the Mnistry of Health worked together wth other
mnistries and with NGOs in the areas of epideni ol ogical surveillance,

i nformati on and education, clinical managenent, counselling, honme-based care,
| aboratory support and bl ood-transfusion services. AIDS commttees

coordi nated regional and district-level prevention and control efforts.

41. Ms. KATSRI KU (Ghana) said that, although the Constitution forbade

di scrimnation against children with disabilities, social discrimnation
continued to exist. Ghana had nounted comrunity-based rehabilitation
programes whi ch had succeeded in enrolling nunbers of disabled children in
regul ar schools and which were effectively transform ng societal attitudes.

42. Finally, young offenders sonmetines inflated their age so as to be tried
by the regular courts, which adm nistered |ighter sentences; it was hoped that
the Children's Bill would resolve that problem

43. Ms. APPI AH (Chana), referring to |l egal issues that had been raised,
explained that in situations where children did not know their age a nedica
practitioner would certify it for them The age so determ ned woul d be taken
into account by juvenile courts and famly tribunals for trial purposes. Wth
regard to child abuse, including torture, the list of children's rights
contained in article 28 of the national Constitution was not exhaustive.

Par agraph 40 of CGhana's initial report was perhaps msleading in that regard.
The new Children's Bill would state clearly that discrimnation must not occur
on grounds of age or disability. The Bill would also contain a provision
requiring any person with information on child abuse to report the matter to
the authorities. Child abuse was defined as any kind of contravention of a
child's rights which caused physical harmto the child. Wth regard to

ment al abuse, the Constitution contained an omi bus provision to the effect
that anything affecting human freedomor dignity was proscribed. The proposed
| egi slati on would al so include a specific provision to protect children

agai nst torture and degrading treatnent. The existing |aw on the puni shnent
of juveniles, which was currently under review, provided that a 14-year-old

of fender m ght be sent to an industrial school for a period of 3 years in
order to receive appropriate training. However, the institutionalization of
children was clearly not in their best interest. |In ternms of future policy,
juveniles would continue to be punished, but to a | esser extent in an
institutional setting. A shorter period of incarceration would be foll owed by
their release and return to their famly, subject to approval by probation
and/or social welfare officers.

44, Wth regard to the conflict between customary |law and civil law, the

two systems operated in parallel but could not m x. For exanple, a marriage
had to be dissol ved under one system before being entered into under another
Under customary law a nmarri age was between two famlies rather than between
two individuals. The famlies cane together to arbitrate. In a situation
where the parents consented to their child' s marriage, but the child did not
wish to enter into the marriage, the child clearly faced a serious dil emma
Such situations were covered by the rel evant omi bus provision of the
Constitution relating to the freedomand dignity of a person at risk. Redress
before the Hi gh Court was possible.



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 9

45. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that nost children were not in a
position to appeal to the High Court and the social welfare authorities
provi ded assistance to children in such circunstances. Unfortunately,
corporal punishment was practised, and even encouraged, in Ghana. There had
recently been suggestions in the press that such punishment shoul d be
reintroduced in certain schools. However, efforts had been made to make the
M ni stry of Education realize that such practices were in violation of the
Convention on the Rights of the Child. Rules could not be inposed on schools;
it was possible only to advocate a particular point of view and to hope that
schools would heed it. In the past any pupil could be caned by a teacher
Fol | owi ng representations, it had been decided that only head teachers ni ght
inflict caning and that particulars of the case should be recorded and be
approved by inspectors.

46. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Ghana) said that free conpul sory educati on was
still not the rule in Ghana and the majority of parents paid fees for their
children's schooling. By the year 2005, |egislation would have been

i ntroduced under which all children between the ages of 6 and 15 woul d have
access to the first 9 years of education free of charge. Such a | aw would not
have been enforceable in the past and its enactnment woul d be dependent on

achi evenent of a higher general |evel of education in the popul ation at |arge.

47. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that even where tuition was free
parents sometimes could not afford to buy school uniforms for their children
In northern Ghana, shepherd boys received instruction locally, in their
habitat, so that they could continue to performtheir duties and be educated
at the sanme tinme. |In certain instances parents were paid an anount
corresponding to the services normally provided by their children so that the
|atter mght benefit from schooling.

48. Ms. APPI AH (CGhana), referring to the question of conflict between
customary and civil law, said that the national constitution always took
precedence. Any law in conflict with the Constitution, whether customary or
ot herwi se, was automatically null and void.

49. M. RABAH said that the only exanple which had been given of a conflict
bet ween customary | aw and the Constitution related to the case of marri age.
However, in relation to children's rights there mght exist the possibility of
dangerous practices such as torture through the dehumani zi ng traditions
prevalent in the customary law of certain tribes. What neasures could be
taken so that the Ghanai an Governnent, as a constitutional body, would take
account of the Convention on the Rights of the Child in relation to such
matters?

50. Ms. APPI AH (Chana) said that in cases such as those referred to the
customary law related to personal |law. For exanple, female genital mutilation
and ritual enslavenent were both customary practices. However, the first had
al ready been proscribed and the second was shortly to be prohibited.

Conflicts did exist in relation to traditional beliefs but it was incunbent on
governnments to legislate and also to try to educate people accordingly.



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 10

51. Furthernore, with regard to inheritance, custonmary practices existed
which were prejudicial to children's interests. However, satisfactory |ega
provi sion had been nade in terns of providing for deprived children thanks to
the customary | aws of inheritance.

52. The CHAI RPERSON recalled M. Kol osov's question concerning the areas in
whi ch discrimnatory practices occurred. The question of disability and
children born out of wedl ock had al ready been di scussed but it was inportant
to know whet her rel evant studies had been carried out. Regarding

non-regi stered day-care centres, it had been stated that when such centres
wer e di scovered no sanctions were applied to them In that case what benefits
accrued to those which were registered?

53. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that authorization had recently been
given to the National Comm ssion on Children to regularize all existing
day-care centres. Those which did not operate in accordance with children's
interests were given tine to overconme their deficiencies. |If, follow ng an
appropriate period, a centre was still a threat to children, it was cl osed
down and the children affected were found other places in the comunity.
Unregi stered centres were not provided with teachers, Wrld Food Progranme
feeding facilities, primers or furniture. Efforts were being nade to nake it
mandatory for all early childhood centres to be registered with the Nationa
Conmi ssion on Children and the Mnistry of Education

54. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Gnana), replying to M. Kol osov's question
concerning non-discrimnation, said that Mnistry of Justice officials had
made it clear that the Constitution covered only sonme, and not all, of the
rel evant issues. The Constitution stipulated that age was not a category in
whi ch benefit could be derived from non-discrimnation. Further |egislation
woul d be introduced to deal with the problens of age and disability. Some
ad hoc studies had been conducted by the Departnent of Social Wl fare. NMst
of those which concerned children had been undertaken in conjunction with
UNI CEF or UNDP. A Departnent of Social Policy Analysis had al so been

est abl i shed.

55. M. KOOSOV, clarifying his earlier question, said that the Ghanaian
report made reference to article 17, section 2, of the Constitution which
provi ded that “no person shall be discrimnated agai nst on the grounds of
gender, race, origin, religion, social or econom c status”. The list of such
grounds in article 2, paragraph 1, of the Convention on the Rights of the
Child was nmuch I onger. G ven the problem of amending the Constitution, it

m ght be possible, through I egislation, to cover all grounds of

non-di scrim nati on based on the status of a child' s parents or |egal guardi ans
rather than the child itself. On what grounds did discrimnatory practices
occur nost often in Ghana: race? |anguage? colour? religion? political or
ot her opinion? The |ist was endl ess. Once that question was answered,

rel evant progranmes could be adopted to eradicate existing problens. It
shoul d al so be nmade clear in which spheres of life discrimnation was nost
conmon in Ghana, for exanple in education or in the registration of births.



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 11

56. Ms. AKUFFO- AMOABENG (Ghana) said that Ghana's Constitution made no
reference to sone of the grounds that had been nentioned. However, account
shoul d be taken of the fact that the legislation relating to children called
for the principles of the Convention to be followed. Follow ng the
preparation of Ghana's report, certain deficiencies in the |egislation had
become apparent and it was now necessary to ensure that all |aws were

har moni zed with the Convention. Ghana had paid particular attention to
establishing a national population policy and to the need to ratify
international treaties. That in turn had produced recomendations for child
| egislation. The main ground for discrimnation in Ghana was gender, even

t hough such fornms of discrimnation were illegal. Race and the other
categories referred to were not nmjor issues.

57. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that nuch had been done in Ghana to
encourage nothers to send their children, and particularly girls, to schoo
and special policies had been introduced to encourage girls to enter
disciplines usually restricted to nale pupils. Wth regard to nutrition,
district health officers kept the public informed of the need of both sexes
for proper nutrition and the Mnistries of Health and Comunity Devel opnent
i nstructed nothers on the value of sound nutritional practices.

58. M. KOLOSOV asked whether in the case of a disturbance or m sbehavi our
in the street or in the classroom between a boy froma rich famly and one
froma poor fam |y, both boys would be treated in an equal manner.

59. Ms. ALBERTA QUARTEY (Ghana) said that no institution would treat boys
fromdifferent kinds of famlies in different ways. Should that happen
parents, the Parent-Teacher Association and the pupils thensel ves woul d
object. Such occurrences of that nature as did take place were the reflection
of human nature and not of a formalized institution

60. The CHAI RPERSON said that one el enent of Ghana's child-1aw reform was
the drawing up of a suitable training programme. Reference had been made to
training of the police, the judiciary, prison officers and social workers. He
wi shed to know whet her teachers, governnment officials and other professionals
woul d al so receive training.

61. Ms. MOKHUANE, referring to corporal punishnent, said that, under a
system where teachers consi dered physical punishnment to be necessary, a child
could be badly harned if no other system of discipline existed. She w shed to
know whet her consi deration had been given to training Ghanai an teachers in the
use of other disciplinary nethods. Furthernore, given that gender-rel ated

di scrimnation existed in the hone, had national progranmes been introduced to
enhance the sel f-esteem of young girls who were nost often the victinms of such
di scri m nation?

62. Ms. SARDENBERG said that additional efforts should be made in CGhana to
hel p disabled children. A neeting to discuss the problenms of such children
was to take place later in 1997. The recomendations it produced m ght wel
be of interest to Ghana.

63. Ms. MBO said that in many countries young girls who becane w dows
followi ng a marri age under customary | aw were denied access to services or



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 12

benefits because of their previous married status. She w shed to know if
there were any such cases in Ghana and, if so, had | egal action been taken to
remedy the situation?

64. Donestic circunmstances such as overcrowdi ng were often partly
responsi bl e for the phenonenon of honel ess and street children. AIDS orphans
were another all too famliar phenonenon. Sonetinmes children who had begun as
street workers were attracted by the experience of freedomfromauthority and
became voluntary street children. It was only one step fromthere to
prostitution, substance abuse and even crinminality. In societies where there
was a big gap between rich and poor, such children were often manipul ated and
comercialized. She recommended the provision of technical assistance to
CGhana to study the causes of the phenonenon of street children and possible
preventive neasures, including action to elinmnate donestic violence and
sexual abuse. Street-based education for alternative Iiving m ght also be
preferable to no education where children were reluctant to return to their
famlies.

65. She was surprised to read in paragraph 61 of Ghana's report that female
circuncision was illegal, presumably even for Muslinms. She suspected that the
prohibition referred to genital nutilation

66. Ms. KARP agreed with Ms. Mioi on the possible relationship between
street children and donestic violence. Studies had also shown a |inkage
between street children and sexual abuse in the fanmly

67. Was it true that police officers were authorized to take children
directly fromthe street to court without the intervention of social workers?
The dynam cs of the relationship between street children and the police was
such that children would autonatically be treated as offenders. She suggested
that the regul ations should be amended in the Child Law Reform project.

68. Why was corporal punishnent not prohibited by law? Article 19,
paragraph 1, of the Convention required States parties to take appropriate
measures to protect the child fromall forns of physical or nental violence -
and not just excessive violence - while in the care of the parents or |ega
guardians. Article 28, paragraph 2, required themto ensure that schoo

di sci pline was adm ni stered in a manner consistent with the child' s human
dignity. The Chanaian Crimnal Code, which referred to the use of
unjustifiable force for the child' s correction, was not in conformty with the
Convention. The harnful effects of corporal punishnent had been well
docunent ed and she strongly reconmended that Ghanai an | egislation should be
amended to bring it into line with the Convention and that parents shoul d be
al erted, through the media or other channels, to the harnful effects of
corporal punishment and infornmed about alternative nethods of discipline.

69. She was concerned that the |egislative provision prohibiting nmental
torture was not as explicit as that concerning physical torture. Al forns of
torture were an assault on human dignity and the prohibition should be

uni versal. What was the conplaints procedure for child victinms of abuse or
torture and was there any provision for rehabilitation or conpensation?



CRC/ C/ SR 378

page 13
70. Where traditional marriages were arranged anmong famlies, often for
excl usively econom c reasons, the child - usually the girl - tended to be

relegated to the status of a coompdity. Ws there any nmeans of ensuring that
her wi shes were taken into account? She suggested that Ghana shoul d consi der
prohi biting and prescribing penalties for under-age fam |y marriages, given
that the | egal age for marriage had been raised to 18 or to 16 in specia
cases.

71. Under Ghanai an adoption |aws, children were denied the right to
ascertain the identity of their natural parents. Had any steps been taken to
remedy that situation?

72. CGhana had not yet ratified a nunber of United Nations human rights

i nstruments or Convention No. 138 of the International Labour Organization
concerning the M ninmum Age for Adm ssion to Enployment. She believed that
accession to those instruments would help to create in Ghana a social clinmate
conduci ve to respect for human rights.

73. No study had yet been undertaken in Ghana of sexual abuse in the famly.
She wi shed to know whet her the problem of domestic violence had been studied
and whet her there were any plans to deal with a phenonenon that had an
extremely harnful inpact on children, even when they were not its direct
victinms? She understood there were plans to legislate for notification of
abuse to the authorities but was unclear as to which authorities were neant.
Was there a plan of action to change public attitudes, particularly in the
police force, so that domestic violence and sexual abuse in the faml|ly were no
| onger treated as “a famly affair” but as a crimnal offence? It was

i nportant not only to educate public opinion but also to ensure that the | aw
was enforced in such cases. Provision should be made for rehabilitation of
child victins and there should be an easily accessible channel for conplaints.
Above all, children should be able to relate their experiences w thout
incurring further enotional damage. There were nany evidential rules and
procedures designed to assist child victinms in such circunmstances.

74. Ms. SARDENBERG, referring to paragraph 137 of the report, which

menti oned the exploitation of girls as donestic servants, asked whet her any
action was being taken to redress the situation. She gathered fromthe reply
to question No. 35 in the Conmittee's list of issues (CRCC Q GHA/ 1) that the
Government was undertaking a study to ascertain the extent of such abuse. Had
it been published in the neantine and, if so, had any reconmendati ons been
made and was any new | egi slation contenplated to address the problem of such
abuse?

75. She agreed with Ms. Karp on the inportant role played by societa
attitudes to street children, donestic violence and sexual abuse in the
famly. As the Chanaian Crimnal Code allowed the police to use force when
arresting suspects, she assuned that no exception was made in the case of
street children. She also understood that it was acceptable for husbands in
CGhana to discipline their wives for alleged di sobedi ence.

76. Finally, she inquired about the de facto situation regarding the child's
right to privacy and freedom of expression within the famly

77. M. FULCI said he was deeply disturbed by reports of severe abuse of
girls under the Trokosi system a traditional practice that was particularly



CRC/ C/ SR. 378
page 14

prevalent in the Volta region. The girls, usually under the age of ten, were
enslaved to fetish priests in atonenment for sone offence commtted by their
fam lies and subjected to forced | abour and sexual abuse, often bearing the
priests' children. Even after release, a woman's obligations to the shrine
were lifelong and a replacenent was expected when she died. It was estimated
that some 4,500 girls were caught up in that system A |ocal non-governnenta
organi zation was said to have achi eved sone success in approaching village
authorities and the priests thenselves with the ultinmte objective of securing
the release of girls in those circunstances. He was pleased to hear that the
Governnent's reconmendation to abolish Trokosi had been incorporated in the
Crim nal Code Amendment Bill 1997. What enforcement procedures were envi saged
and what neans of social persuasion were contenpl ated?

78. M. RABAH, referring to the principle of nulla poena sine |ege, asked
whet her there was any provision in Ghana's Crimninal Code under which parents
coul d be punished for neglect of their children or, in the nbost extrene case,
for sale of their children's organs.

79. M. KOLOSOV drew attention to an inconsistency in the report regarding
expenditure on education. Wereas paragraph 110 referred to cuts in

gover nment expenditure, paragraph 121 clainmed that governnent spendi ng on
education was increasing. Wich was correct?

80. The indirect school fees levied on parents to cover building

mai nt enance, classroom furniture and other costs were inconpatible with the
requi rement regarding free prinmary education in article 28, paragraph 1(a), of
the Convention. States parties were also required to encourage secondary
education through such measures as the introduction of free education and the
provi sion of financial assistance in case of need. The ainms of education set
out in paragraph 122 of the report did not fully reflect the provisions of
article 29 of the Convention, for exanple the aimof devel oping respect for
civilizations different fromthat of the child.

81. Under decentralization policy, private schools were being established
and local authorities were being given nore power to influence curricula. He
drew attention to the stipulation in article 29, paragraph 2, of the
Convention that the education given in all establishnents should conformto
the m ni mum standards | aid down by the State

82. Ms. KARP, referring to article 26 of the Convention, inquired about
children's rights to social security benefits. Ws there any plan of action
in Ghana for early chil dhood devel opnent ?

83. The CHAI RPERSON, speaking in a personal capacity, queried the adequacy
of Ghana's system of social workers in terms of nunbers, progranmes and
training content.

84. An inordinate burden seemed to be placed on the femal e parent in CGhana,
a situation that was exacerbated in the case where the father was a
delinquent. Was there any system of parental counselling, particularly for
men, to instill a sense of parental responsibility, or was there a tendency
for males to resist such counselling or the role it advocated?

The neeting rose at 12.55 p. m




